

**TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES, FLORIDA**

**ORDINANCE NO. 2008-05**

**AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES, FLORIDA, CREATING A NEW SECTION OF THE TOWN'S CODE OF ORDINANCES, TO BE ENTITLED "SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS"; TO PROVIDE FOR THE AUTHORITY OF THE TOWN COUNCIL TO ADOPT SPECIAL ASSESSMENT PUBLIC SERVICE AND PUBLIC WORKS PROGRAMS; PROVIDING FOR CODIFICATION; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR CONFLICTS; PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE.**

**WHEREAS**, pursuant to Article VIII, §2(b) of the Constitution of the State of Florida and Chapter 166, Florida Statutes, the Town of Loxahatchee Groves ("Town") has a governmental and corporate powers of a duly constituted municipality; and

**WHEREAS**, pursuant to Section 10(5) of Chapter 2006-328, Laws of Florida, hereinafter referred to as the "Town Charter", the provisions of the Palm Beach County Code of Ordinances are to apply within the Town; and

**WHEREAS**, pursuant to the Town Charter, the Town Council for the Town of Loxahatchee Groves is authorized to rescind provisions contained within the Palm Beach County Code of Ordinances in order to provide for the enactment of a new Town of Loxahatchee Code of Ordinances; and

**WHEREAS**, the Town Council desires to adopt a new Chapter of the Town of Loxahatchee Groves Code of Ordinances to provide for the ability of the Town Council to adopt

**CODING:** Words in ~~strike-through~~ type are deletions from existing law;  
Words in underlined type are additions.

**TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES, FLORIDA**

**ORDINANCE NO. 2008-05**

special assessment public service programs and public works projects as authorized by Florida Statutes, as may be amended from time to time; and

**WHEREAS**, the Town Council finds that the adoption of this Ordinance is in the best interest of the health, safety, and welfare of the citizens and residents of the Town.

**NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES, FLORIDA, AS FOLLOWS:**

**Section 1.** The foregoing "WHEREAS" clauses are hereby ratified and confirmed as being true and correct, and are hereby incorporated herein and made a part hereof.

**Section 2.** That the Town of Loxahatchee Groves Code of Ordinances is hereby amended by enacting a new Chapter entitled "Special Assessments" to read as follows:

**SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS**

**Sec. 101. Scope.**

(a) The provisions of this Chapter shall apply to special assessment public service programs and public works projects, and may be referred to as the "home rule special assessment ordinance." Public service programs ("service(s)") and public works projects ("project(s)") may be made or undertaken in accordance with the home rule special assessment ordinance whenever the Town determines that such services or projects should be undertaken and completed and the costs collected, in whole or in part, as a special assessment. The authority granted to the Town pursuant to the home rule special assessment ordinance shall be supplemental to other provisions of law, including F.S. Ch. 170, and shall not be construed as limiting, or being limited by, such other provisions of law.

(b) Special assessments made pursuant to this Chapter shall be levied only for the purposes enumerated in this Chapter and at a rate of assessment based upon the special

CODING: Words in ~~strike-through~~ type are deletions from existing law;  
Words in underlined type are additions.

**TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES, FLORIDA**

**ORDINANCE NO. 2008-05**

benefit accruing to the property assessed from such service or project undertaken by the Town. The reasonably estimated value of such special benefit must equal or exceed the amount of each assessment. Adoption of the assessment resolution, as hereinafter defined and provided, shall constitute a legislative finding that these standards have been met.

**Sec. 102. Definitions.**

For the purposes of this Chapter the following definitions shall apply unless the context clearly indicates or requires a different meaning.

*Assessable area* means the area of real property that will receive a special benefit from a special assessment service or project.

*Assessable front footage* means the length of property abutting a special assessment service or project that will receive a special benefit from that service or project.

*Assessable value of real property* means the value of real property that will receive a special benefit from a special assessment improvement. For the purposes of this Chapter, the value shall be determined by reference to the assessed value according to the latest final assessment roll prepared by the property appraiser for Palm Beach County, including improvements located thereon but without regard to exemptions.

*Basis for assessment* means the assessable area; assessable front footage; or assessable value of real property, deriving a special benefit from a special assessment service or project, as determined by the Town in accordance with the provisions of this Chapter. When appropriate, the Town may use a basis other than assessable area, assessable front footage, or assessable value of real property in allocating service or project costs among properties specially benefitted by a special assessment service or project, including, but not limited to, the amount of any impact or concurrency fees, or other similar governmental charges levied in connection with the development of the properties, for which the property in the assessable area would be liable and for which the special assessment is levied in lieu thereof.

*Project(s)* means a valuable addition made to real property or an amelioration in its condition. For the purposes of this Chapter, the term shall include but not be limited to repairs and replacement.

CODING: Words in ~~strike-through~~ type are deletions from existing law;  
Words in underlined type are additions.

**TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES, FLORIDA**

**ORDINANCE NO. 2008-05**

Service(s) means a valuable public service provided to owners of real property which provides a special benefit to the real property serviced.

Special assessment public service program ("service") or public works project ("project") means a public service program or public works project which adds to or extends the capability of a municipal service (including another governmental unit's service pursuant to an interlocal agreement between the Town and such other governmental unit or units) and which specially benefits properties within the assessable area in which the special benefits of the service or project may be determined, by increasing the safety, utility, accessibility or value of the properties involved or by levying a special assessment in lieu of an impact fee, concurrency fee or other similar governmental charge levied in connection with the development of the properties. The term includes, but is not necessarily limited to:

- (1) Construction, reconstruction, repair, maintenance, paving, repaving, widening, guttering or draining of streets, alleys and sidewalks;
- (2) Construction, reconstruction, repair or maintenance of permanent pedestrian canopies over public sidewalks and ways;
- (3) Construction, reconstruction, repair or maintenance of lighting, landscaping, street furniture, signage, bike paths, trails and other amenities associated with streets, sidewalks, or public ways;
- (4) Construction, reconstruction, repair, maintenance, renovation, excavation, grading, stabilization, relocation and upgrading of greenbelts, swales, culverts, sanitary sewers, water lines, storm sewers, outfalls, canals, primary, secondary, and tertiary drains, water bodies, marshlands, and natural areas, separately or as part of a comprehensive stormwater management system, including the necessary appurtenances and structures thereto and including, but not limited to, dams, weirs, and pumps and underdrains, retention and detention ponds;
- (5) Construction, reconstruction, repair or maintenance of sanitary sewers, gravity lines, force mains, lift stations, telemetry systems, water mains, water laterals and other potable and reuse water distribution and storage facilities, including the necessary appurtenances thereto;
- (6) Construction, reconstruction, repair or maintenance of bridges and culverts;

CODING: Words in ~~strike-through~~ type are deletions from existing law;  
Words in underlined type are additions.

**TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES, FLORIDA**

**ORDINANCE NO. 2008-05**

- (7) Construction, reconstruction, repair or maintenance of parks and other public recreational facilities and improvements, including appurtenances thereto;
- (8) Construction, reconstruction, repair or maintenance of public schools and other public educational facilities and improvements, including appurtenances thereto;
- (9) Creation, restoration, drainage or reclamation of wet, low, or overflowed lands;
- (10) Construction, reconstruction, repair or maintenance of off street parking facilities, parking garages, or similar facilities;
- (11) Construction, reconstruction, repair or maintenance of mass transportation facilities;
- (12) Construction, rehabilitation, revitalization and beautification of Town neighborhoods and low, moderate and affordable housing;
- (13) Burial of overhead utility lines, including without limitation acquisition of necessary or convenient easements or rights-of-way;
- (14) Provision for landscaping and green spaces;
- (15) Provision of all other public improvements and services as designated by the Town Council;
- (16) Provision of public service programs including but not limited to the Town's fire and emergency medical services program and all costs associated therewith and the Town's solid waste collection services and all costs associated therein.
- (17) Provision of engineering, surveys, designs, documents, plans and specifications, legal services and all services related to the feasibility or practicability of such service or project.

The term includes any service or project of general and special benefit to the public which the Town Council determines to serve a proper public purpose, and may include services or projects conducted jointly with any other public agency or publicly regulated utility.

*Special benefit* shall mean a logical relationship between the service or project and the benefit to real property.

*Street* includes but is not limited to a road, highway, boulevard, alley, street or other public thoroughfare.

CODING: Words in ~~strike-through~~ type are deletions from existing law;  
Words in underlined type are additions.

**TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES, FLORIDA**

**ORDINANCE NO. 2008-05**

Total cost for service or project means the sum of all expenses chargeable to a service or project, including all costs incurred from inception to final acceptance, if applicable, including by way of example and not limitation, engineering, field, design, and overhead costs; acquisition and construction costs; operating and equipment costs; direct Town labor and material costs; general Town administrative and overhead costs as a fixed percentage of the other total costs; attorneys fees; and other necessary or incidental expenses. Such costs may include the cost of construction or reconstruction, repair, or maintenance, the cost of all labor and materials, the cost of all lands, property, rights, easements, and franchises acquired, financing charges, interest, discount on the sale of special assessment bonds or anticipation certificates, cost of plans and specifications, surveys, environmental assessments, remediation or mitigation, surveys of estimates of costs and of revenues, cost of engineering and legal services, and all other expenses necessary or incident to determining the feasibility or practicability of providing such service or project or the construction or reconstruction, repair or maintenance of such service or project, administrative expense, and such other expense as may be necessary or incident to the service or project and financing authorized, including any cost increase as a result of any consumer price index increases as may be provided by contract.

Uniform Assessment Collection Act (Uniform Method) refers to Florida Statutes § 197.3632 or any successor statute authorizing the collection of non-ad valorem assessments on the same bill as ad valorem taxes, and any applicable regulations promulgated thereunder.

**Sec. 103. Declaration of intent; notice.**

(a) Whenever the Town shall decide that a special assessment service or project needs to be provided or accomplished, the Town Council shall by resolution (the "intent resolution") declare the Town's intention to have such work performed or services provided, designating the nature of the work or services; the location of the work or services; the part or portion of the cost to be paid by special assessment; the manner in which special assessments shall be made; when such assessments are to be paid; and what part, if any, shall be apportioned to be paid from other funds of the Town or another participating governmental unit(s). Such intent resolution shall also describe the lands on which the special assessment is to be levied and it shall be sufficient to describe such lands as all lots and lands located within the assessable area receiving special benefit from the service or project. Such intent resolution shall also state the estimated costs of the service or project.

CODING: Words in ~~strike-through~~ type are deletions from existing law;  
Words in underlined type are additions.

**TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES, FLORIDA**

**ORDINANCE NO. 2008-05**

(b) At the time of the adoption of the intent resolution there shall be on file with the Town clerk an assessment plat showing the area to be assessed, together with preliminary plans and specifications and an estimate of the total or annual cost for the service or project, which assessment plat, preliminary plans and specifications, and estimate shall be open to the inspection of the public.

(c) Upon adoption of the intent resolution, the Town may advertise for bids, provide in-house or provide pursuant to an agreement with a third party or another public agency or a publicly regulated utility agency to provide the service or for the construction of the project. If bid, the bid shall be advertised in a newspaper of general circulation in the municipality and include in such advertisement the intent resolution number and title. All such bids shall conform to the Town bid procedures then in effect.

(d) Promptly after adoption of the intent resolution, the Town clerk shall cause said intent resolution to be published once a week for a period of two (2) weeks in a newspaper of general circulation in the Town and in Palm Beach County, Florida.

(e) Whenever it is necessary for the Town to adopt an assessment roll on an annual basis, it shall not be necessary to adopt an intent resolution each year. Instead, in subsequent years, the Town shall adopt a preliminary assessment resolution, which shall provide for the purpose of the special assessment and the preliminary amount of such assessment. The preliminary assessment resolution may also provide for the date, time and place of the public hearing required by section 105, and any other information the Town deems necessary. The preliminary assessment resolution need not be published subsequent to adoption.

**Sec. 104. Setting assessments for special assessment improvements or service program.**

(a) *Determining basis for assessment.* The Town shall determine the assessable area; assessable front footage; or assessable value, for each special assessment service or project and shall prepare an assessment roll (the "preliminary assessment roll") in accordance with the method of assessment set out in the intent resolution. Such preliminary assessment roll shall show the lots and lands to be assessed and, after taken into consideration the limitations contained in subsection (b) of this section, the amount of each assessment and the total assessment.

(b) *Determining assessable cost per property owner for property located in the assessable area.* The estimated annual cost or total cost, which ever is applicable, for the service or project shall be used to develop a formula to determine the basis for assessment in order to attribute cost per property owner for property located within the

CODING: Words in ~~strike-through~~ type are deletions from existing law;  
Words in underlined type are additions.

## TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES, FLORIDA

### ORDINANCE NO. 2008-05

assessable area. The assessable cost for each property owner for property located in the assessable area shall then be added together to arrive at the total assessment.

(c) Annual determination of cost for a service. The estimated cost of a service funded by a special assessment levied pursuant to this Chapter shall be set annually by resolution of the Town Council after notice and public hearing, if the estimated annual cost for the upcoming year exceeds the current annual assessment amount. If the estimated annual cost for the upcoming year does not exceed the current annual assessment amount then notice and public hearing shall not be required but the Town Council will set the amount of the annual assessment by resolution at a public meeting. Whenever a public hearing is required by this section, the public hearing held by the Town pursuant to section 105 shall satisfy the requirements of this section.

#### **Sec. 105. Levying special assessment.**

(a) Upon completion of the preliminary assessment roll, the Town shall by resolution or motion fix a time and place at which the owners of property to be assessed, or any other persons interested therein, may appear before the Town and be heard with respect to the propriety and advisability of providing the service or project and funding them with special assessments, the cost of the service or project, and the amount to be assessed against each property so improved or serviced. The Town clerk shall provide written notice of such hearing to each of the property owners whose property is subject to being assessed. Such notice shall be provided by first class U.S. mail, postage prepaid, or through the annual TRIM Notices forwarded by the Palm Beach County Property Appraiser, not less than twenty (20) days in advance of the hearing. The notice by mail shall include the following information: the purpose of the assessment; the total amount to be levied against each parcel; the unit of measurement to be applied against each parcel to determine the assessment; the number of such units contained within each parcel; the total revenue the local government will collect by the assessment; a statement that failure to pay the assessment will cause a tax certificate to be issued against the property which may result in a loss of title; a statement that all affected property owners have a right to appear at the hearing and to file written objections with the Town within twenty (20) days of the notice; and the date, time, and place of the hearing. In addition, notice of the time and place of such hearing shall be given by publication in a newspaper of general circulation in the Town not less than twenty (20) days in advance of the hearing; provided however, that any mistake in such advertised notice or in any mailed notice shall not void any assessment levied in accordance with the provisions of this Chapter. The published notice shall contain at least the following information: the name of the Town; a geographic depiction of the property subject to the assessment; the

CODING: Words in ~~strike-through~~ type are deletions from existing law;  
Words in underlined type are additions.

**TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES, FLORIDA**

**ORDINANCE NO. 2008-05**

proposed schedule of the assessment; the fact that the assessment will be collected by the tax collector; and a statement that all affected property owners have the right to appear at the public hearing and the right to file written objections within twenty (20) days of the publication of the notice. The resolution or motion shall contain the date, time, and place of the hearing, describe the assessable area, and advise persons interested that the description of the properties located within the assessable area and the amount of the assessment can be ascertained at the office of the Town clerk.

(b) At such public hearing, the Town Council shall consider all objections relating to the assessments and shall make a final decision on whether to levy the special assessments. Thereafter, if the decision is to levy the special assessments, the Town Council shall equalize or adjust such assessments where justice and right so dictate, and shall approve and confirm the assessment roll by resolution (the "assessment resolution"). When so equalized and approved, a final assessment roll shall be filed in the office of the Town clerk of the Town and such assessments shall stand confirmed and remain legal, valid, and binding first liens upon the property against which such assessments are made until paid. The annual assessment amount for a service shall be determined by Town in accordance with section 104(c) shall be filed in the office of the Town Clerk, and such assessments shall stand confirmed and remain legal, valid and binding first liens upon the property against which such assessments are made until paid.

(c) A statement of the confirmed assessment shall be provided to each property owner listed on the roll. The property owner shall have such time as may be provided in the assessment within which to pay the total or annual assessment.

(d) The Town shall determine in the assessment resolution when the payment of any special assessment levied pursuant to this Chapter shall commence, and the frequency and amount of any scheduled collections of such assessments upon determination of the confirmed assessment roll.

(e) Upon completion of a project or termination of a service, any excess in the special assessment as originally made, approved and confirmed over the actual cost of the improvement to be paid by such special assessment, shall be credited proportionately against each special assessment against each parcel in the manner set forth in the assessment resolution, or used for any lawful purpose.

(f) The Town Council shall be authorized to revise and correct errors and omissions in the assessment roll if:

(1) Any assessment made under this Chapter is annulled, vacated, or set aside, in whole or in part, by the judgment of any court. In such a case, the Town Council may revise the assessment to comport with the guidelines of any such judgment until such time as a valid assessment is imposed.

CODING: Words in ~~strike-through~~ type are deletions from existing law;  
Words in underlined type are additions.

**TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES, FLORIDA**

**ORDINANCE NO. 2008-05**

(2) The Town Council is satisfied that any assessment is so defective that it can not be enforced or collected.

(3) The Town Council has omitted any property from the assessment roll which should have been assessed for the service or project funded by the assessment.

(g) Prior to the delivery of the assessment roll to the tax collector, the mayor, or his or her designee, shall be authorized to reclassify any property subject to the assessment based upon competent substantial evidence, or to correct any error in applying the assessment upon any particular parcel, either on his or her own initiative or upon receipt of a timely filed written petition by a property owner.

(h) No error or omission by the Town Council, mayor or any of his or her designees, Town administrator, property appraiser, tax collector, or their deputies or employees, shall operate to release or discharge any obligation for payment of an assessment imposed by the Town Council under the provisions of this Chapter.

**Sec. 106 Interim assessments.**

(a) An interim assessment shall be imposed against all property for which a certificate of occupancy or certificate of completion, whichever is applicable, is issued after adoption of the assessment resolution for any special assessment levied pursuant to this Chapter. The amount of the interim assessment shall be calculated upon a monthly rate, which shall be one-twelfth (1/12) of the annual rate for such property computed in accordance with the assessment resolution for the year in which the certificate of occupancy or certificate of completion is issued. Such monthly rate shall be imposed for each full calendar month remaining in the year. In addition to the monthly rate, the interim assessment shall also include the collection of an estimate of the subsequent year's assessment. For the solid waste special assessment, the rate shall be calculated on the fiscal year. For any future special assessments adopted by the Town, the assessment resolution will determine whether the rate is collected on a fiscal year or calendar year basis.

(b) No certificate of occupancy or certificate of completion shall be issued until full payment of the interim assessment is received by the Town. Issuance of the certificate of occupancy or certificate of completion by mistake or inadvertence, and without the payment in full of the interim assessment, shall not relieve the owner of such property of the obligation of full payment. For the purpose of this provision, such interim assessment shall be deemed due and payable on the date the certificate of occupancy or certificate of completion was issued and shall constitute a lien against such property as of that date. Said lien shall be equal in rank and dignity with the liens of all state, county, district or municipal taxes and special assessments, and superior in rank and dignity to all other

CODING: Words in ~~strike-through~~ type are deletions from existing law;  
Words in underlined type are additions.

**TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES, FLORIDA**

**ORDINANCE NO. 2008-05**

liens, encumbrances, titles and claims in and to or against the real property involved and shall be deemed perfected upon the issuance of the certificate of occupancy or certificate of completion.

**Sec. 107. Collection of payments; installment payments; certificate of indebtedness.**

(a) Notice of assessment. Promptly after adoption of the assessment resolution, a statement of the confirmed assessment shall be provided to each property owner listed on the confirmed roll. The special assessments shall bear interest and be payable at the time and in the manner stipulated in the assessment resolution, and shall remain liens, co-equal with the lien of all state, county, district, and municipal taxes, other non-ad valorem assessments which are duly levied, superior in dignity to all other liens, titles, and claims, until paid. The Town may elect to collect its own assessments, retain a third party to collect, use the uniform method or use any other legally available mechanism for collection.

(b) Installment payments. The assessment, subject to the interest provided in this section, may be satisfied through weekly, monthly or annual installments as provided for in the assessment resolution. All assessments, together with interest accrued thereon to the date of payment, may be paid in full at any time and the property owner shall not incur any penalty for prepayment.

(c) Certificate issued for failure to pay assessment. Where assessments are not paid within the time provided in the assessment resolution, a certificate of indebtedness shall be issued. The certificate shall contain a description of the assessed property, the amount of the assessment, a description of the service or project, and shall identify the assessment resolution under which the assessment was made. Such certificate shall be recorded in the public records of Palm Beach County and shall constitute a lien coequal with the lien of all state, county, district and other municipal taxes, superior in dignity to all other liens, titles and claims, until paid, and shall bear interest at a rate to be set forth in the assessment resolution.

(d) Enforcement of certificate. Upon failure of the property owner to pay any assessment installment due, any part thereof, or any interest, the procedures and remedies of the uniform method shall apply if used by Town, if not then the Town, or its agent, may cause the necessary proceedings to be brought to enforce payment of either the assessment or the certificate issued under Section 107(c), together with all accrued interest. As a part of such proceeding, the Town shall be entitled to recover all costs and a reasonable attorney's fee. Default in the payment of any installment of the assessment or accrued interest shall result in the entire or annual assessment, if applicable, plus interest becoming immediately due. Such foreclosure proceeding shall be instituted and

CODING:      Words in ~~strike-through~~ type are deletions from existing law;  
                  Words in underlined type are additions.

## TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES, FLORIDA

### ORDINANCE NO. 2008-05

prosecuted under Chapters. 43 and 173, Florida Statutes, or as otherwise provided by law.

(e) *Validity.* In no event shall the amount or validity of the lien or certificate of indebtedness as provided for by this chapter be questioned in any direct or collateral proceeding instituted more than thirty (30) days after the issuance of such certificate of indebtedness by the Town, or such shorter time as may result from the filing of bond validation proceedings.

#### **Sec. 108. Issuance of bonds.**

The Town may at any time without an election being held therefor, borrow money and issue bonds therefor in anticipation of the collection of unpaid special assessments levied or to be levied for the purpose of paying the cost of special assessment service or project.

#### **Sec. 109 Solid waste collection services.**

The Town shall have the power to create, install, improve, maintain and fund any and all costs associated with establishing and operating a Town system of providing a solid waste collection services program (solid waste collection program) for residential and/or commercial service to the property owners, residents and citizens of the Town. The recipients of the Town's solid waste collection program will enjoy protection and enhancement of public health and safety by the provision of reliable and effective service to persons who own or use such property, and enrichment of property value and minimization of potential liability attendant with the use of the assessed property. The cost allocation formula and other details of the assessment program will be set forth in the intent resolution.

#### **Sec. 110. Special assessments pursuant to interlocal agreements.**

The Town is authorized to enter into interlocal agreements pursuant to Chapter 163, Florida Statutes, with other local agencies and governmental units in order to implement a special assessment program (i) where the service or project will be located within the municipal corporate limits of the Town, but will benefit areas beyond the municipal corporate limits of the Town, (ii) where other local agencies or governmental units are to provide funds to pay a portion of the total project costs or annual cost of a service, or (iii) where another local agency or governmental unit is willing to waive an impact fee, concurrency fee or similar governmental charge and allow the Town to levy a special assessment in lieu thereof to pay all or a portion of the total project costs or annual cost of a service of the proposed project as part of the special assessment program.

CODING: Words in ~~strike-through~~ type are deletions from existing law;  
Words in underlined type are additions.

**TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES, FLORIDA**

**ORDINANCE NO. 2008-05**

**Sec. 111. Additional programs and projects; specific provisions not a limitation.**

Nothing in this Chapter delineating or making specific provision and conditions for certain types of project or service to be provided by special assessment shall be deemed or construed to limit or affect the power and authority of the Town under Article VIII, Section 2(b) of the Florida Constitution, Chapter 166, Florida Statutes, and applicable law (i) to make the same or any other project or service apart from a special assessment, or (ii) to make any other type of project or service by special assessment.

**Sec. 112. Irregularities.**

Any informality or irregularity in the proceedings in connection with the levy of any special assessment under the provisions of this Chapter shall not affect the validity of the special assessment where the assessment roll has been confirmed by the Town by adoption of the assessment resolution. The assessment roll as finally approved and confirmed shall be competent and sufficient evidence that the assessment was duly levied, that the assessment was duly made and adopted, and that all other proceedings adequate to the adoption of the assessment roll were duly had, taken and performed as required by this Chapter, and no variance from the directions hereunder shall be held material unless it be clearly shown that the party objecting was materially injured thereby.

**Sec. 113. Consistency with state law.**

To the extent that any provision herein is inconsistent with Chapter 197, Florida Statutes, when the Town employs the uniform method for the levy, collection, and enforcement of non-ad valorem assessments set forth in Chapter 197, the provisions of Chapter 197 shall prevail.

**Section 3. Codification.**

It is the intention of the Town Council of the Town of Loxahatchee Groves that the provisions of this Ordinance shall become and be made a part of the Code of Ordinances of the Town of Loxahatchee Groves, Florida. The Sections of this ordinance may be re-numbered or re-

CODING: Words in ~~strike-through~~ type are deletions from existing law;  
Words in underlined type are additions.

**TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES, FLORIDA**

**ORDINANCE NO. 2008-05**

lettered, and the word "Ordinance" may be changed to "Section", "Article", or such other word or phrase necessary to accomplish such intention.

**Section 4.**     Severability.

If any section, phrase, sentence or portion of this Ordinance is for any reason held invalid or unconstitutional by any court of competent jurisdiction, such portion shall be deemed a separate, distinct, and independent provision, and such holding shall not affect the validity of the remaining portions thereof.

**Section 5.**     Repeal of Laws in Conflict.

All ordinances or parts of ordinances of the Town of Loxahatchee Groves, Florida, which are in conflict herewith are hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict.

**Section 6.**     Effective Date. The provisions of this Ordinance shall become effective upon adoption.

**REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK**

CODING:       Words in ~~strike-through~~ type are deletions from existing law;  
                  Words in underlined type are additions.

TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES, FLORIDA

ORDINANCE NO. 2008-05

PASSED AND ADOPTED BY THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES, FLORIDA, ON FIRST READING, THIS 17<sup>th</sup> DAY OF June, 2008.

PASSED AND ADOPTED BY THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN LOXAHATCHEE GROVES, ON SECOND READING AND PUBLIC HEARING, THIS 1<sup>st</sup> DAY OF July, 2008.

TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES,  
FLORIDA

ATTEST:

Matthew Lippman  
TOWN CLERK or Authorized Representative

David Browning  
Mayor David Browning

Marge Herzog  
Vice Mayor

[Signature]  
Council Member

APPROVED AS TO LEGAL FORM:

[Signature]  
Office of the Town Attorney

[Signature]  
Council Member

[Signature]  
Council Member

DNT:dnt

H:\2007\070240.LOXORD 2008\2008-05 (Special Assessment).doc

STATE OF FLORIDA  
COUNTY OF Palm Beach

I HEREBY CERTIFY that the above and foregoing is a true and correct copy of:  
Ordinance 2008-05  
as recorded in the Office of the Town Clerk.

WITNESS my hand and official seal this 17<sup>th</sup> day of July, A.D. 2008

TOWN OF Loxahatchee Groves  
BY: [Signature]

CODING: Words in ~~strike-through~~ type are deletions from existing law;  
Words in underlined type are additions.